
MEMORANDUM

TO: Members of the Authority

FROM: Timothy J. Lizura 
President and Chief Operating Officer 

DATE: March 13, 2018

SUBJECT: Agenda for Board Meeting of the Authority March 13, 2018

Notice of Public Meeting

Roll Call

Approval of Previous Month’s Minutes

Chairman’s Report to the Board

CEO’s Report to the Board

Board Presentation

Incentive Programs

Loans/Grants/Guarantees

Edison Innovation Fund

Office of Recovery

Board Memorandums

Real Estate

Executive Session

Public Comment

Adjournment

March 13, 2018 Board Book - Agenda Cover Memo



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Approval of Previous Month's Minutes



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Approval of Previous Month's Minutes



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Approval of Previous Month's Minutes



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Approval of Previous Month's Minutes



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Approval of Previous Month's Minutes



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Approval of Previous Month's Minutes



 
  

MEMORANDUM 
 

TO:  Members of the Authority 

FROM:  Tim Sullivan 

DATE:  March 13, 2018 

RE:  Monthly Report to the Board 
 
ORGANIZATIONAL UPDATE 

In his first official act after being sworn in, Governor Phil Murphy signed Executive Order #1 on January 16, 
2018 to combat gender inequality and promote equal pay for women in New Jersey. Under Executive Order 
#1, state agencies and offices are explicitly prohibited from asking a job applicant for their past wage history or 
investigating the prior salaries of their applicants. Consistent with the EDA’s commitment to diversity and 
inclusion, our Human Resources team is assessing organizational policies to ensure alignment with the spirit 
and standards of the Executive Order. 

Later in January, Governor Murphy signed an Executive Order directing New Jersey to re-enter the Regional 
Greenhouse Gas Initiative (RGGI), a multi-state cooperative that auctions carbon emission allowances and 
invests the proceeds in energy efficiency, consumer benefit, and renewable energy programs. The EDA is 
working closely with the Board of Public Utilities, the Department of Environmental Protection, and other state 
agencies to support these efforts, and to accelerate the growth of clean energy jobs and businesses in New 
Jersey. 

Another new initiative the EDA is focused on is the Opportunity Zones Program, which was introduced as part 
of the federal Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017. The program will allow investors with unrealized capital gains to 
temporarily defer taxes by investing in distressed areas designated as Opportunity Zones. The bill also creates 
Opportunity Funds, which will allow investors to execute and diversify investments in low-income 
neighborhoods. The EDA has been working with the Governor’s Office, the Department of Community Affairs, 
the New Jersey Redevelopment Authority, and other state agencies to support this new program. Today we 
are joined by George Helmy, State Director for Senator Cory Booker, who will present an overview of this 
exciting new program. 

Also note that EDA continues to provide information to the Office of the State Comptroller for its performance 
audit of EDA’s incentives programs. The audit was mandated by Executive Order #3, signed by Governor 
Murphy on January 19.  

Several of the reports issued by the Governor-Elect’s Transition Advisory Committees provided thoughtful 
recommendations and actionable steps to spur economic growth for the state and in communities across New 
Jersey. The recommendations from the Stronger and Fairer Economy Transition Advisory Committee are most 
applicable to EDA’s scope, however the EDA will potentially play an essential role in a range of initiatives, 
including energy and resiliency, urban and regional revitalization, labor and workforce development, 
government innovation and technology. The EDA is working in collaboration with the Governor’s office and 
partners throughout the administration to implement recommendations from the various transition 
committee reports. Updates on progress will be provided regularly. 

March 13, 2018 Board Book - CEO Report



GOVERNOR MURPHY CREATES JOBS AND ECONOMIC OPPORTUNITY COUNCIL  

An Executive Order signed by Governor Phil Murphy late in February established the Jobs and Economic 
Opportunity Council, which will provide the Governor with advice and recommendations for stimulating job 
growth and workforce development in New Jersey. The Executive Order mandates that the Council formulate 
recommendations related to national and state economic trends, possible government action to expand 
employment opportunities, sources for infrastructure funding, priorities for federal and state-funded 
programs, and the development of software technology to improve services for job seekers. 

I am pleased to have been asked to serve on the Council, along with Lieutenant Governor Sheila Oliver, the 
State Treasurer, Commissioner of Education, Commissioner of Labor, Secretary of Higher Education, 
Commissioner of Banking and Insurance, and the Director of the John J. Heldrich Center for Workforce 
Development at Rutgers University. The Governor’s Chief of Staff, Chief Counsel, Chief Policy Advisor, and 
Deputy Chief of Staff for Economic Growth will also be on the Council.  

RECOGNITION OF EDA-SUPPORTED COMPANIES AND PROJECTS ABUNDANT IN FEBRUARY 

EDA-supported projects throughout the State were recognized in February for their contributions to the 
State’s economy. In Newark, vertical farming company AeroFarms was selected by Fast Company for the 
magazine’s annual “Most Innovative Companies” list. AeroFarms created its state-of-the-art aeroponic farm 
inside a converted steel warehouse in Newark, supported by the Grow New Jersey and Economic 
Redevelopment and Growth (ERG) Programs. AeroFarms also received support from Newark Venture Partners, 
in which the EDA is a limited partner investor.  

The Cultural Center Redevelopment project in New Brunswick has been selected as a 2018 “Mixed-Use Deal of 
the Year” finalist by the National Association of Industrial and Office Properties – New Jersey (NAIOP NJ). The 
$171.8 million, 450,000-square-foot, 23-story New Brunswick Cultural Center Redevelopment project includes 
207 apartments, multiple performance venues, office space and a parking garage. Supported under ERG, other 
partners include New Brunswick Development Corp., City of New Brunswick, Middlesex County, Rutgers 
University, Pennrose Properties, New Brunswick Cultural Center, and the New Brunswick Parking Authority.  

Two other EDA-supported projects were selected by NAIOP NJ as finalists. Under consideration in the “Office 
Deal of the Year” category are Billtrust’s lease for its new 89,000-square-foot headquarters in Lawrenceville, 
which represented the fourth-largest office lease statewide, and Barclays purchase of a 525,000-square foot 
office property in Whippany. Winners will be revealed at the 31st Annual Commercial Real Estate Awards Gala 
on May 10 at The Palace at Somerset Park. 

CLOSED PROJECTS 
 
In the first two months of 2018, EDA closed on more than $12 million in traditional lending assistance to 
support 18 projects, leveraging more than $40 million in capital investment and the creation of 81 new 
permanent jobs. 

In addition to the assistance provided through traditional lending programs, EDA also executed agreements, 
pending certification, with six projects for more than $220 million, leveraging an estimated $250 million in 
capital investment, the expected creation of more than 850 new jobs and more than 700 construction jobs, 
and the retention of 2,100 jobs at risk of leaving New Jersey. 

March 13, 2018 Board Book - CEO Report



EVENTS/SPEAKING ENGAGEMENTS/PROACTIVE OUTREACH 

EDA representatives participated as speakers, attendees, or exhibitors at 18 events in February.  These 
included the Cooper's Ferry Annual Meeting in Camden, the New Jersey Federal Credit Union Passaic Economic 
Impact Breakfast, and the Boost Your Business with Facebook events in Trenton and Newark. 

 

       __________________________________ 

March 13, 2018 Board Book - CEO Report



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 INCENTIVE PROGRAMS 

March 13, 2018 Board Book - Incentives



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
GROW NEW JERSEY ASSISTANCE PROGRAM (GROW NJ) 

March 13, 2018 Board Book - Incentives



NEW JERSEY ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
PROJECT SUMMARY - GROW NEW JERSEY ASSISTA CE PROGRAM

As created by statute, the Grow New Jersey Assistance (Grow NJ) Program is available to businesses creating or
retaining jobs in New Jersey and making a qualified capital investment at a qualified business facility in a qualified
incentive area. Applications to the Grow NJ Program are evaluated to determine eligibility in accordance with
P.L. 2013, c. 161 and as amended through the “Economic Opportunity Act of 2014, Part 3,” P.L. 2014. c. 63,
based on representations made by applicants to the Authority. Per N.J.S.A. 34:1B-242 et seq./N.J.A.C. 19:31-1
and the program’s rules, applicants must employ a certain number of personnel in retained and/or new full-time
jobs at a qualified business facility and make, acquire or lease a capital investment equal to or greater than defined
thresholds in order to be eligible for tax credits. In addition to satisfying these statutorily-established job and
capital investment requirements, applications undergo a material factor review to verify that the tax credits are
material to the project advancing in New Jersey. Applications are also subject to a net benefit analysis to verify
that the anticipated revenue resulting from the proposed project will be greater than the incentive amount. Credits
are only certified for use annually and proportionally based on actual job performance during that year and an
applicant is subject to forfeiture and recapture in event of default.

APPLICANT: Carts Mobile Food Equipment Corporation P44861

PROJECT LOCATION: 300 West 3 Street Plainfield City Union County

GOVERNOR’S INITIATIVES:
(X) NJ Urban Fund ( ) Edison Innovation Fund ( ) Core ( ) Clean Energy

APPLICANT BACKGROUND:
Carts Mobile Food Equipment Corporation dba Carts Food Equipment (CFE) was founded in 1979 as a
manufacturer of pushcarts serving hotdog vendors in New York City. CFE has since expanded, currently
operating as a comprehensive provider of equipment for the foodservice industry. CFE manufactures a full line
of custom-fabricated equipment serving customers including restaurants, food processors, corporate cafeterias,
hotels, university dining halls, and mobile kitchens. The applicant has demonstrated the financial ability to
undertake the project.

MATERIAL FACTORJNET BENEFIT:
CFE is currently located in an owned facility in Brooklyn, NY housing its headquarters, manufacturing, and
warehouse operations that it has outgrown, with current real estate market conditions making expanding in
Brooklyn impractical. CFE is currently evaluating options to relocate these operations, having identified a
19,150 sq. ft. facility in Plainfield, NJ to purchase that would meet its operational needs after renovations. The
project would represent the addition of 34 jobs new to the State and capital investment which includes
renovations and the purchase of new machinery and equipment. Alternatively, CFE would make a comparable
investment in a 20,000 sq. ft. facility in Glenolden, PA to house its combined operations and 34 related
positions.

The location analysis submitted to the Authority shows New Jersey to be the more expensive option and, as a
result, the management of Carts Mobile Food Equipment Corporation has indicated that the grant of tax credits
is a material factor in the company’s location decision. The Authority is in receipt of an executed CEO
certification by David Nadler, the President and highest-ranking employee of Carts Mobile Food Equipment
Corporation. that states that the application has been reviewed and the information submitted and representations
contained therein are accurate and that, but for the Grow New Jersey award. the creation and/or retention ofjobs
would not occur. It is estimated that the project would have a net benefit to the State of $444,780 over the 20-
year period required by the Statute.

March 13, 2018 Board Book - Incentives



Carts Mobile Food Equipment Corporation Grow New Jersey Pane 2
ELIGIBILITY AND GRANT CALCULATION:
Per the Grow New Jersey statute, N.J.S.A. 34:1B-242 et seq. and the program’s rules, N.J.A.C. 19:31-18, the
applicant must:

Make, acquire, or lease a capital investment equal to, or greater than, the minimum capital investment, as
follows:

($/Square Foot
Minimum Capital Investment Requirements of Gross Leasable Area)
Industrial/Warehouse/Logistics/R&D - Rehabilitation Projects S 20
Industrial/Warehouse/Logistics/R&D - New Construction Projects $ 60
Non-Industrial/Warehouse/Logistics/R&D — Rehabilitation Projects $ 40
Non-Industrial/Warehouse/Logistics/R&D — New Construction Proj ects $120
Minimum capital investment amounts are reduced by 1/3 in GSGZs and in eight South Jersey
counties: Atlantic, Burlington, Camden, Cape May, Cumberland, Gloucester, Ocean and Salem

Retain full-time jobs AND/OR create new full-time jobs in an amount equal to or greater than the
applicable minimum, as follows:

Minimum Full-Time Employment Requirements (New / Retained Full-time Jobs)
Tech start ups and manufacturing businesses 10 / 25
Other targeted industries 25 / 35
All other businesses/industries 35 / 50
Minimum employment numbers are reduced by 1/4 in GSGZs and in eight South Jersey counties: Atlantic,
Burlington, Camden, Cape May, Cumberland, Gloucester, Ocean and Salem

As an Industrial - Rehabilitation Project for a manufacturing business in Union County, this project has been
deemed eligible for a Grow New Jersey award based upon these criteria, outlined in the table below:

jgibiIity Minimum Requirement Proposed by Applicant
Capital Investment $383,000 $1,598,000
New Jobs 10 34
Retained Jobs 25 0

March 13, 2018 Board Book - Incentives



Carts Mobile Food Equipment Corporation Grow New Jersey Pane 3
The Grow New Jersey Statute and the program’s rules also establish criteria for the Grant Calculation for New
Full-Time Jobs. This project has been deemed eligible for a Base Award and Increases based on the following:

Base Grant Requirement Proposed by Applicant
Distressed Municipality Base award of $4,000 per year Plainfield City is a designated

for projects located in a Distressed Municipality
designated Distressed
ciali_

Increase(s) Criteria
Deep Poverty Pocket or An increase of $1,500 per job 300 West 3rd Street is located in
Choice Neighborhood for a project locating in a Deep a Deep Poverty Pocket.

Poverty Pocket or Choice
orhood

Transit Oriented Development An increase of $2,000 per job 300 West 3rd Street is located in
for a project locating in a a Transit Oriented
Transit Oriented Development Development by virtue of

being within 1/2 mile of the
midpoint of a New Jersey
Transit Corporation rail
station.

Capital Investment in Excess An increase of $1,000 per job The proposed capital
of Minimum (non-Mega) for each additional amount of investment of $1,598,000 is

capital investment in an 317.2% above the minimum
industrial premises that capital investment resulting in
exceeds the minimum amount an increase of $3,000 per year.
required for eligibility by 20%,
with a maximum increase of
$3,000

Targeted Industry An increase of $500 per job for The applicant is a
a business in a Targeted Manufacturing business.
Industry of Transportation,
Manufacturing, Defense,
Energy, Logistics, Life
Sciences, Technology, Health,
or Finance excluding a
primarily warehouse,
distribution or fulfillment
center business

March 13, 2018 Board Book - Incentives



Carts Mobile Food Equipment Corporation Grow New Jersey Pane 4

The Grow New Jersey Statute and the program’s rules establish a Grant Calculation for Retained Full-Time

Jobs. The Grant Calculation for Retained Full-Time Jobs for this project will be based upon the following:

PROJECT TYPE GRANT CALCULATION

Project located in a Garden State Growth The Retained Full-Time Jobs will receive the same Grant
Zone Calculation as New Full-Time Jobs as shown above subject to the

same per employee limits.
A Mega Project which is the U.S. The Retained Full-Time Jobs will receive the same Grant
headquarters of an automobile Calculation as New Full-Time Jobs as shown above subject to the
manufacturer located in a priority area same per employee limits.
The Qualified Business Facility is The Retained Full-Time Jobs will receive the same Grant
replacing a facility that has been wholly Calculation as New Full-Time Jobs as shown above subject to the
or substantially damaged as a result of a same per employee limits.
federally declared disaster -

All other projects The Retained Full-Time Jobs will receive the lesser of:
- V2 of the Grant Calculation for New Full-Time Jobs (1/2 *

$11,000 = $5,500) or
- The estimated eligible Capital Investment divided by 10

divided by the total New and Retained Full-Time Jobs
(Sl,598,000 / 10 / (34 + 0) S4,700)

In the event that upon completion a project has a lower actual Grant
Calculation for New Full-Time Jobs or a lower Capital Investment
than was estimated herein, the above calculations will be re-run and
the applicant will receive the lesser of the two amounts.

March 13, 2018 Board Book - Incentives



Carts Mobile Food Equipment Corporation Grow New Jersey Pace 5

Grant Calculation

BASE GRANT PER EMPLOYEE:
Distressed Municipality $ 4,000

INCREASES PER EMPLOYEE:

Deep Poverty Pocket: $ 1,500
Transit Oriented Development: $ 2,000
Capital Investment in Excess of Minimum (non-Mega): $ 3,000
Targeted Industry (Manufacturing): $ 500

INCREASE PER EMPLOYEE: $ 7,000

PER EMPLOYEE LIMIT:
Distressed Municipality $11,000

LESSER OF BASE + INCREASES OR PER EMPLOYEE LIMIT: $ 11,000

AWARD:
Newiobs: 34JobsX$I1,000X l00% $ 374,000
Retained Jobs: 0 Jobs X $ 4,700 X 100% = $ 0,000

Total: S 374,000

ANNUAL LIMITS:
Distressed Municipality $ 8,000,000

TOTAL ANNUAL AWARD $ 374,000

PROJECT IS: (X) Expansion (X) Relocation
ESTIMATED ELIGIBLE CAPITAL INVESTMENT: $1,598,000
ANTICIPATED COMPLETION DATE

FOR CAPITAL INVESTMENT: December 31, 2019
ANTICIPATED DATE THAT JOBS WILL BE AT QUALIFIED

BUSINESS FACILITY: December 31, 2019
SIZE OF PROJECT LOCATION: 19,150 sq. ft.
NEW BUILDING OR EXISTING LOCATION? Existing
INDUSTRIAL OR NON-INDUSTRIAL FACILITY? Industrial
CONSTRUCTION: (X) Yes ( ) No

March 13, 2018 Board Book - Incentives



Carts Mobile Food Equipment Corporation Grow New Jersey Page 6
NEW FULL-TIME JOBS: 34
RETAINED FULL-TIME JOBS: 0
STATEWIDE BASE EMPLOYMENT (AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2017): 0
CITY FROM WHICH JOBS WILL BE RELOCATED IN NEW JERSEY: NA
MEDIAN WAGES: $ 40.961
NET BENEFIT MODEL: 2017
GROSS BENEFIT TO THE STATE (OVER 20 YEARS, PRIOR TO AWARD): $ 4,184,780
TOTAL AMOUNT OF AWARD: $ 3,740,000
NET BENEFIT TO THE STATE (OVER 20 YEARS, NET OF AWARD): $ 444,780

ELIGIBILITY PERIOI): 10 years

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL:
1. Applicant has not committed to locate the project in New Jersey without the Grow New Jersey tax credit, as

may be shown by an executed lease or purchase contract.
2. Applicant will create and/or retain jobs and will make eligible capital investment, at the qualified business

facility, of no less than the minimum eligibility requirements after Board approval, but no later than three
years from Board approval.

3. No employees that are subject to a BEIP, BRRAG, legacy Grow New Jersey, Urban Transit Hub or other
NJEDA incentive program are eligible for calculating the benefit amount of the Grow New Jersey tax credit.

4. No capital investment that is subject to a BEIP, BRRAG, legacy Grow New Jersey, Urban Transit Hub or other
NJEDA incentive program is eligible to be counted toward the capital investment requirement for Grow New
Jersey.

5. Within twelve months following approval, the applicant will submit progress information indicating that the
business has site plan approval, committed financing for, and site control of the qualified business facility.

6. If the number of employees, salaries or capital investment to be counted in the Net Benefit Test (NBT) falls by
more than 10% from the amounts contained herein, the net benefit to the state will need to be recalculated
under the then current NBT model, which may reduce the amount of the Grow NJ Award.

APPROVAL REQUEST:
The Members of the Authority are asked to approve the proposed Grow New Jersey grant to encourage Carts
Mobile Food Equipment Corporation to increase employment in New Jersey. The recommended grant is
contingent upon receipt by the Authority of evidence that the company has met certain criteria to substantiate the
recommended award. If the criteria met by the company differs from that shown herein, the award amount and
the term will be lowered to reflect the award amount that corresponds to the actual criteria that have been met.

DEVELOPMENT OFFICER: Diane Ubinger APPROVAL OFFICER: Kevin DeSmedt

March 13, 2018 Board Book - Incentives



NEW JERSEY ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
PROJECT SUMMARY - GROW NEW JERSEY ASSISTANCE PROGRAM

As created by statute, the Grow New Jersey Assistance (Grow NJ) Program is available to businesses creating or
retaining jobs in New Jersey and making a qualified capital investment at a qualified business facility in a qualified
incentive area . Applications to the Grow NJ Program are evaluated to determine eligibility in accordance with
P.L. 2013. c. 161 and as amended through the Econornic Opportunity Act of 2014, Part 3’ P.L. 2014, c. 63,
based on representations made by applicants to the Authority. Per N.J.S.A. 34:1B-242 et seq./N.J.A.C. 19:31-1
and the program’s rules, applicants must employ a certain number of personnel in retained and/or new full-time
jobs at a qualified business facility and make, acquire or lease a capital investment equal to or greater than defined
thresholds in order to be eligible for tax credits. In addition to satisfying these statutorily-established job and
capital investment requirements, applications undergo a material factor review to verify that the tax credits are
material to the project advancing in New Jersey. Applications are also subject to a net benefit analysis to verify
that the anticipated revenue resulting from the proposed project will be greater than the incentive amount. Credits
are only certified for use annually and proportionally based on actual job performance during that year and an
applicant is subject to lhrfeiture and recapture in event of default.

APPLI CANT: Feldware. Inc. P44900

PROJECT LOCATION: 900 Hart Street Rahway City Union County

GOVERNOR’S INITIATIVES:
(X) NJ Urban Fund ( ) Edison Innovation Fund ( ) Core ( ) Clean Energy

APPLICANT BACKGROUND:
Feldware, Inc., established in 1959. is a manufacturer of unfinished metal stampings and plastic jar discs used
primarily in the cosmetic industry. The company has been family owned and operated for three generations. The
applicant is currently located in Brooklyn. NY. The applicant has demonstrated the financial ability to undertake
the project.

IATERIAL FACTORJNET BENEFIT:
Feldware, Inc., is seeking additional space to accommodate its increased demand. The company is considering a
44,000 Sq. Ft. facility in Rahway, NJ or a 40,000 Sq. Ft. facility in Freeport, NY. The project involves the creation
of 45 new positions.

The location analysis submitted to the Authority shows New Jersey to be the more expensive option and, as a
result, the management of Feldware, Inc. has indicated that the grant of tax credits is a material factor in the
company’s location decision. The Authority is in receipt of an executed CEO certification by Charles Feldman,
the CEO of Feldware. Inc.. that states that the application has been reviewed and the information submitted and
representations contained therein are accurate and that, but for the Grow New Jersey award, the creation and/or
retention of jobs would not occur. It is estimated that the project would have a net benefit to the State of $6.5
million over the 20 year period required by the Statute.

ELIGIBILITY AND GRANT CALCULATION:
Per the Grow New Jersey statute, N.J.S.A. 34:1B-242 et seq. and the program’s rules, N.J.A.C. 19:31-18, the
applicant must:

• Make, acquire, or lease a capital investment equal to, or greater than, the minimum capital investment, as
follows:

($/Square Foot
Minimum Capital Investment Requirements of Gross Leasable Area)
Industrial/Warehouse/Logistics/R&D - Rehabilitation Projects S 20

March 13, 2018 Board Book - Incentives



Feidware, Inc. Grow New Jersey Page 2
Industrial!Warehouse/Logisties/R&D - New Construction Projects $ 60
Non-Industrial/Warehouse/Logistics/R&D

— Rehabilitation Projects $ 40
Non-Industrial/Warehouse/Logistics/R&D — New Construction Projects $120
Minimum capital investment amounts are reduced by 1/3 in GSGZr and in eight South Jersey
counties: Atlantic, Burlington, Camden, Cape Mar, Cumberiand, Gloucester, Ocean and Salem

• Retain full-time jobs AND/OR create new full-time jobs in an amount equal to or greater than the
applicable minimum, as follows:

Minimum Full-Time Employment Requirements (New / Retained Full-time Jobs)
Tech start ups and manufacturing businesses 10 / 25
Other targeted industries 25 / 35
All other businesses/industries 35 / 50
Minimum eniploiment numbers are reduced by 1/4 in GSGZs and in eight South Jersey counties: Atlantic,
Burlington. Camden, Cape May, Cuinherland. Gloucester, Ocean and Salem

As an Industrial - Rehabilitation Project for a manufacturing business in Union County, this project has been
deemed eligible for a Grow New Jersey award based upon these criteria, outlined in the table below:

Liimiii Minimum Requirement Proposed by Applicant
Cpital Investment $880,000 $1,056,155
NewJobs_________ 10 45
Retained Jobs 25 0

The Grow New Jersey Statute and the program’s rules also establish criteria for the Grant Calculation for New
Full-Time Jobs. This project has been deemed eligible for a Base Award and Increases based on the following:

Base Grant Proposed by Applicant
Distressed Municipality Base award of $4,000 per year Rahway City is a designated

for projects located in a Distressed Municipality
designated Distressed
Municipality

Increase(s) Criteria
Capital Investment in Excess An increase of $1,000 per job The proposed capital
of Minimum (non-Mega) for each additional amount of investment of $1,056,155 is

capital investment in an 20.01% above the minimum
industrial premises that capital investment resulting in
exceeds the minimum amount an increase of $1,000 per year.
required for eligibility by 20%,
with a maximum increase of
$3,000

Targeted Industry An increase of $500 per job for The applicant is a
a business in a Targeted Manufacturing business.
Industry of Transportation,
Manufacturing, Defense,
Energy, Logistics, Life

March 13, 2018 Board Book - Incentives



Feidware. Inc. Grow New .Jersev Page 3
Sciences, Technology, Health,
or Finance excluding a
primarily warehouse,
distribution or fulfillment
center business

The Grow New Jersey Statute and the program’s rules establish a Grant Calculation for Retained Full-Time
Jobs. The Grant Calculation for Retained Full-Time Jobs for this project will be based upon the following:

PROJECT TYPE GRANT CALCULATION
Project located in a Garden State Growth The Retained Full-Time Jobs will receive the same Grant
Zone Calculation as New Full-Time Jobs as shown above subject to the

same per employee limits.
A Mega Project which is the U.S. The Retained Full-Time Jobs will receive the same Grant
headquarters of an automobile Calculation as New Full-Time Jobs as shown above subject to the
manufacturer located in a priority area same per employee limits.
The Qualified Business Facility is The Retained Full-Time Jobs will receive the same Grant
replacing a facility that has been wholly Calculation as New Full-Time Jobs as shown above subject to the
or substantially damaged as a result of a same per employee limits.
federally declared disaster
All other projects The Retained Full-Time Jobs will receive the lesser of:

- V2 of the Grant Calculation for New Full-Time Jobs (1/2 *

$5,500 = $2,750) or
- The estimated eligible Capital Investment divided by 10

divided by the total New and Retained Full-Time Jobs
($1,056,155 / 10 / (45+0) = $2,347)

In the event that upon completion a project has a lower actual Grant
Calculation for New Full-Time Jobs or a lower Capital Investment
than was estimated herein, the above calculations will be re-run and
the applicant will receive the lesser of the two amounts.

March 13, 2018 Board Book - Incentives



Feidware, Inc. Grow New Jersey Pane 4

Grant Calculation

BASE GRANT PER EMPLOYEE:
Distressed Municipality $ 4,000

INCREASES PER EMPLOYEE:
Capital Investment in Excess of i inimum (non-Mega): $ I ,000
Targeted Industry (Manufacturing): $ 500

INCREASE PER EMPLOYEE: $ 1,500

PER EMPLOYEE LIMIT:
Distressed Municipality $11,000

LESSER OF BASE + INCREASES OR PER EMPLOYEE LIMIT: $ 5,500

AWARD:
New Jobs: 45 Jobs X $5,500 X 100% = $247,500
Retained Jobs: 0 Jobs X $2,347 X 100% = $ 0

Total: S247,500

ANNUAL LIMITS:
Distressed Municipality $ 8,000,000

TOTAL ANNUAL AWARD S247.500

March 13, 2018 Board Book - Incentives



Feidware, Inc. Grow New Jersey Pane 5

PROJECT IS: (X) Expansion ( ) Relocation
ESTIMATED ELIGIBLE CAPITAL INVESTMENT: $ 1,056,155
ANTICIPATED COMPLETION DATE

FOR CAPITAL INVESTMENT: September 30, 2019
ANTICIPATED DATE THAT JOBS WILL BE AT QUALIFIED

BUSINESS FACILITY: September 30, 2019
SIZE OF PROJECT LOCATION: 44,000 sq. ft.
NEW BUILDING OR EXISTING LOCATION? Existing
INDUSTRIAL OR NON-INDUSTRIAL FACILITY? Industrial
CONSTRUCTION: (X) Yes ( ) No

NEW FULL-TIME JOBS: 45
RETAINED FULL-TIME JOBS: 0
STATEWIDE BASE EMPLOYMENT (AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2017): 0
CITY FROM WHICH JOBS WILL BE RELOCATED IN NEW JERSEY: N/A
MEDIAN WAGES: $ 28,080

NET BENEFIT MODEL: 2017
GROSS BENEFIT TO THE STATE (OVER 20 YEARS, PRIOR TO AWARD): $ 8,991,935
TOTAL AMOUNT OF AWARD: $ 2,475,000
NET BENEFIT TO THE STATE (OVER 20 YEARS, NET OF AWARD): $ 6,516,935

ELIGIBILITY PERIOD: 10 years

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL:
1. Applicant has not committed to locate the project in New Jersey without the Grow New Jersey tax credit, as

may be shown by an executed lease or purchase contract.
2. Applicant will create and/or retain jobs and will make eligible capital investment, at the qualified business

facility, of no less than the minimum eligibility requirements after Board approval, but no later than three
years from Board approval.

3. No employees that are subject to a BEIP, BRRAG, legacy Grow New Jersey, Urban Transit Hub or other
NJEDA incentive program are eligible for calculating the benefit amount of the Grow New Jersey tax credit.

4. No capital investment that is subject to a BEIP, BRRAG, legacy Grow New Jersey, Urban Transit Hub or
other NJEDA incentive program is eligible to be counted toward the capital investment requirement for Grow
New Jersey.

5. Within 12 months following approval, the applicant will submit progress information indicating that the
business has site plan approval, committed financing for, and site control of the qualified business facility.

APPROVAL REQUEST:
The Members of the Authority are asked to approve the proposed Grow New Jersey grant to encourage Feidware,
Inc. to increase employment in New Jersey. The recommended grant is contingent upon receipt by the Authority
of evidence that the company has met certain criteria to substantiate the recommended award. If the criteria met
by the company differs from that shown herein, the award amount and the term will be lowered to reflect the
award amount that corresponds to the actual criteria that have been met.

I)EVELOPMENT OFFICER: M. Sestrich APPROVAL OFFICER: S. Novak

March 13, 2018 Board Book - Incentives



NEW JERSEY ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
PROJECT SUMMARY - GROW NEW JERSEY ASSISTANCE PROGRAM

As created by statute, the Grow New Jersey Assistance (Grow NJ) Program is available to businesses creating or

retaining jobs in New Jersey and making a qualified capital investment at a qualified business facility in a qualified

incentive area. Applications to the Grow iJ Program are evaluated to determine eligibility in accordance with

P.1.. 2013, c. 161 and as amended through the Economic Opportunity Act of 2014, Part 3,” P.L. 2014, c. 63.

based on representations made by applicants to the Authority. Per N.J.S.A. 34:1B-242 et seq./N.J.A.C. 19:31-1

and the program’s rules, applicants must employ a certain number of personnel in retained and/or new full-time

jobs at a qualified business facility and make, acquire or lease a capital investment equal to or greater than defined

thresholds in order to be eligible for tax credits. In addition to satisfying these statutorily-established job and

capital investment requirements. applications undergo a material factor review to verify that the tax credits are

material to the project advancing in New Jersey. Applications are also subject to a net benefit analysis to verify

that the anticipated revenue resulting from the proposed project will be greater than the incentive amount. Credits

are only certified for use annually and proportionally based on actual job performance during that year and an

applicant is subject to forfeiture and recapture in event of default.

APPLICANT: Infinite 1lerbs LLC P44905

PROJECT LOCATION: 2440 North Mill Road Vineland City Cumberland

GOVERNOR’S INITIATIVES:
(X) N.J Urban Fund ( ) Edison Innovation Fund ( ) Core ( ) Clean Energy

APPLICANT BACKG RO (J NI):
infinite Herbs LLC organized in 2003 produces a variety of organic and conventional culinary herbs at its facilities

in Piru, California and Homestead, Florida. The company distributes its products on a wholesale basis to grocery

stores and other retail outlets, such as Trader Joe’s. Wal-Mart. Price Chopper, Whole Foods, located throughout

the United States. Infinite l-lerhs has executive, sales and administrative offices in Miami. Florida and plant and

distribution facilities in Boston. Massachusetts. Miami. Florida and Chicago, Illinois with 155 employees. The

applicant has demonstrated the financial ability to undertake the project.

MATERIAL FACTOR/NET BENEFIT:
Infinite Herbs LLC is considering consolidating two of its out-of-state locations (Chicago and Boston) into one

facility. Under consideration is the lease of 30.000 sq. ft. of space in a 100.000 sq. ft. industrial building in

Vineland, N.J or leasing 21,361 sq. ft. in Elk Grove Village, Illinois, near its Chicago facility. The Grow NJ

project would create 125 jobs.

The location analysis submitted to the Authority shows New .Jersev to be the more expensive option and, as a

result. the management of Infinite Herbs LLC has indicated that the grant of tax credits is a material factor in the

company’s location decision. The Authority is in receipt of an executed CEO certification by Gregorio Berliavsky

the CEO of Infinite Herbs LLC, that states that the application has been reviewed and the information submitted

and representations contained therein are accurate and that, but for the Grow New Jersey award, the creation

and/or retention ofjobs would not occur. It is estimated that the project would have a net benefit to the State of

$1 .4 million over the 20 year period required by the Statute.

ELIGIBILITY AND GRANT CALCULATION:
Per the Grow New Jersey statute, N.J.S.A. 34:1B-242 et seq. and the program’s rules, N.J.A.C. 19:31-18, the

applicant must:

March 13, 2018 Board Book - Incentives



Infinite Herbs LLC Grow New Jersey Paae 2
Make, acquire, or lease a capital investment equal to. or greater than, the minimum capital investment, as
follows:

($/Square Foot
Minimum Capital Investment Requirements of Gross Leasable Area)
Industrial/Warehouse/Logistics/R&D - Rehabilitation Projects $ 20
Industrial!Warehouse/Logistics/R&D - New Construction Projects $ 60
Non-Industrial/Warehouse/I ogistics/R&D — Rehabilitation Proj ects $ 40
Non-Industrial/Warehouse/Logi sties/R&D — New Construction Projects $120
Minimum capital investment amounts are reduced by 1/3 in GSGZs and in eight South Jc’rsey
counties: Atlantic, Burlington, Camden, Cape Mai’, (‘umber/and, Gloucester, Ocean and Salem

• Retain full-time jobs AND/OR create new full-time jobs in an amount equal to or greater than the
applicable minimum, as follows:

Minimum Full-Time Employment Requirements (New / Retained Full-time Jobs)
Tech start ups and manufacturing businesses 10 / 25
Other targeted industries 25 / 35
All other businesses/industries 35 / 50
Minimum employment numbers are reduced by 1/4 in GSGZc and in eight South Jersey counties: Atlantic,
Burlington. Camden, C’ape May, Cumberland, Gloucester, Ocean and Salem

As a Warehouse Rehabilitation Project for an other business in Cumberland County, this project has been
deemed eligible for a Grow New Jersey award based upon these criteria, outlined in the table below:

rEligibiii’ Minimum Requirement Proposed by Applicant

Capital Investment $400,000 $3,210,000
wJobs 27 125

Ljained Jobs 38 0

The Grow New Jersey Statute and the program’s rules also establish criteria for the Grant Calculation for New
Full-Time Jobs. This project has been deemed eligible for a Base Award and Increases based on the following:

Base Grant Requirement Proposed by Applicant

Distressed Municipality Base award of’ $4,000 per year Vineland City is a designated
for projects located in a Distressed Municipality
designated Distressed

Increase(s) Criteria
2007 Revit. Index>465 in An increase of $1,000 per job Vineland City has a 2007
Atlantic, Burlington, Camden. for locating in a municipality Revitalization Index of 474.
Cape May, Cumberland, with a 2007 Revitalization
Gloucester. Ocean. Salem Index greater than 465

March 13, 2018 Board Book - Incentives



Infinite Herbs LLC Grow New Jersey .fae 3

The Grow New Jersey Statute and the program’s rules establish a Grant Calculation for Retained Full-Time
Jobs. The Grant Calculation for Retained Full-Time Jobs for this project will be based upon the following:

PROJECT TYPE GRANT CALCULATION
Project located in a Garden State Growth The Retained Full-Time Jobs will receive the same Grant
Zone Calculation as New Full-Time Jobs as shown above subject to the

_______

same per employee limits.
A Mega Project which is the U.S. The Retained Full-Time Jobs will receive the same Grant
headquarters of an automobile Calculation as New Full-Time Jobs as shown above subject to the
manufacturer located in a priority area same per employee limits.
The Qualified Business Facility is The Retained Full-Time Jobs will receive the same Grant
replacing a facility that has been wholly Calculation as New Full-Time Jobs as shown above subject to the
or substantially damaged as a result of a same per employee limits.
all declared disaster
All other projects The Retained Full-Time Jobs will receive the lesser of:

- V2 of the Grant Calculation for New Full-Time Jobs (1/2
* $5,000 $2,500) or

- The estimated eligible Capital Investment divided by 10
divided by the total New and Retained Full-Time Jobs
($3,210,000 / 10 / (125 + 0) = $2,568)

In the event that upon completion a project has a lower actual Grant
Calculation for New Full-Time Jobs or a lower Capital Investment
than was estimated herein, the above calculations will be re-run and
pplicant will receive the lesser of the two amounts.

March 13, 2018 Board Book - Incentives



Infinite Herbs LLC Grow New Jersey Page 4

Grant Calculation

BASE GRANT PER EMPLOYEE:
Distressed Municipality $4,000

INCREASES PER EMPLOYEE:
2007 Revit. lndex>465 in Atlantic, Burlington, Camden

Cape May, Cumberland, Gloucester, Ocean, Salem: $ 1.000

INCREASE PER EMPLOYEE: $1 .000

PER EMPLOYEE LIMIT:
Distressed Municipality SI 1.000

LESSER OF BASE + INCREASES OR PER EMPLOYEE LIMIT: $5,000

AWARD:
New Jobs: 125 Jobs X $5,000 X 100% = $625,000
Retained Jobs: 0 Jobs X $5,000 X 50% = $0,000

Total: $625,000

AN NUAL LIMITS:
Distressed Municipality $ 8.000000

TOTAL ANNUAL AWARI) $625,000

PROJECT IS: (X) Expansion ( ) Relocation
ESTIMATE!) ELIGIBLE CAPITAL INVESTMENT: $ 3,210,000
ANTICIPATEI) COMPLETION DATE
FOR CAPITAL INVESTMENT: September 1, 2018

ANTICIPATED DATE THAT JOBS WILL BE AT QUALIFIED
BUSINESS FACILITY: September 30, 2019

SIZE OF PROJECT LOCATION: 30.000 sq. ft.
NEW BUILDING OR EXISTING LOCATION? Existing
INDUSTRIAL OR NON-INDUSTRIAL FACILITY? Non-Industrial
CONSTRUCTION: (X) Yes ( ) No

March 13, 2018 Board Book - Incentives



!i!finite Herbs LLC Grow New Jersey Page 5

NEW FULL-TIME JOBS: 125
RETAINED FULL-TIME JOBS: 0
STATEWIDE BASE EMPLOYMENT (AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2017): 0
CITY FROM WHICH JOBS WILL BE RELOCATED IN NEW JERSEY: N/A
MEDIAN WAGES: $ 19,760

NET BENEFIT MODEL: 2017
GROSS BENEFIT TO THE STATE (OVER 20 YEARS, PRIOR TO AWARD): $ 7,648,698
TOTAL AMOUNT OF AWARI): $ 6,250,000
NET BENEFIT TO THE STATE (OVER 20 YEARS, NET OF AWARD): $ 1,398,698

ELIGIBILITY PERIOD: 10 years

CONI)ITIONS OF APPROVAL:
1. Applicant has not committed to locate the project in New Jersey without the Grow New Jersey tax credit, as

may be shown by an executed lease or purchase contract.
2. Applicant will create and/or retain jobs and will make eligible capital investment, at the qualified business

facility, of no less than the minimum eligibility requirements after Board approval, but no later than three
years from Board approval.

3. No employees that are subject to a BEIP, BRRAG. legacy Grow New Jersey. Urban Transit Hub or other
NJEDA incentive program are eligible for calculating the benefit amount of the Grow New Jersey tax credit.

4. No capital investment that is subject to a BEIP. BRRAG. legacy Grow New Jersey, Urban Transit Hub or other
N.JEDA incentive program is eligible to be counted toward the capital investment requirement for Grow New
Jersey.

5. Within 12 months following approval, the applicant will submit progress information indicating that the
business has site plan approval, committed financing for, and site control of the qualified business facility.

APPROVAL REQUEST:
The Members of the Authority are asked to approve the proposed Grow New Jersey grant to encourage Infinite
1lerbs LLC to increase employment in New Jersey. The recommended grant is contingent upon receipt by the
Authority of evidence that the company has met certain criteria to substantiate the recommended award. If the
criteria met by the company differs from that shown herein, the award amount and the term will be lowered to
reflect the award amount that corresponds to the actual criteria that have been met.

DEVELOPMENT OFFICER: J. Kenyon APPROVAL OFFICER: T. Wells

March 13, 2018 Board Book - Incentives



NEW JERSEY ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

PROJECT SUMMARY – GROW NEW JERSEY ASSISTANCE PROGRAM 

 

As created by statute, the Grow New Jersey Assistance (Grow NJ) Program is available to businesses creating or 

retaining jobs in New Jersey and making a qualified capital investment at a qualified business facility in a qualified 

incentive area.  Applications to the Grow NJ Program are evaluated to determine eligibility in accordance with 

P.L. 2013, c. 161 and as amended through the “Economic Opportunity Act of 2014, Part 3,” P.L. 2014, c. 63, 

based on representations made by applicants to the Authority.  Per N.J.S.A. 34:1B-242 et seq./N.J.A.C. 19:31-1 

and the program’s rules, applicants must employ a certain number of personnel in retained and/or new full-time 

jobs at a qualified business facility and make, acquire or lease a capital investment equal to or greater than defined 

thresholds in order to be eligible for tax credits.  In addition to satisfying these statutorily-established job and 

capital investment requirements, applications undergo a material factor review to verify that the tax credits are 

material to the project advancing in New Jersey.  Applications are also subject to a net benefit analysis to verify 

that the anticipated revenue resulting from the proposed project will be greater than the incentive amount.  Credits 

are only certified for use annually and proportionally based on actual job performance during that year and an 

applicant is subject to forfeiture and recapture in event of default. 

 

APPLICANT:    Union Packaging, LLC    P44885 

 

PROJECT LOCATION:     2210 Broadway Camden City  Camden County 

 

GOVERNOR’S INITIATIVES: 

(X) NJ Urban Fund (  ) Edison Innovation Fund (  ) Core (  ) Clean Energy 

 

APPLICANT BACKGROUND: 

Union Packaging, LLC (“Union Packaging”) manufactures FDA-compliant paperboard food packaging.  

Today, food is served around the nation in Union Packaging's earth-friendly clamshell, folded, and nested cartons. 

Union Packaging's commitment to social responsibility has led to the recruitment and development of the 

disabled, citizens returning from incarceration, and documented new arrivals to America.  

 

Union Packaging seeks to purchase a new facility to accommodate its growing business.  The proposed Camden 

facility would be retrofitted to consist of 35,900 square feet to meet Union Packaging's needs.  The site also 

provides open space for an additional 35,100 square feet to be constructed at the rear of the property, for a total 

square footage of 71,000.  This would enable the company to continue its business of manufacturing FDA-

compliant paperboard food packaging.  The alternate would be to remain in its current leased facility in Yeadon, 

PA, consisting of 105,000 square feet. 

 

The applicant has demonstrated the financial ability to undertake the project. 

 

MATERIAL FACTOR/NET BENEFIT: 

The proposed project is located in Camden, NJ, a city that ranked 566 out of 566 municipalities in the 2007 New 

Jersey Municipal Revitalization Index.  In recognition of Camden's inability to attract investment, in the New 

Jersey Economic Opportunity Act, the Legislature declared that Camden and the other Garden State Growth 

Zones presented significant challenges to development and created incentives unique to Camden and other 

similarly situated Garden State Growth Zones to overcome these barriers. 

 

The management of Union Packaging, LLC has indicated that the grant of tax credits is a material factor in the 

company's decision whether or not to locate the project in Camden.  The Authority is in receipt of an executed 

CEO certification by Michael Pearson, the CEO of Union Packaging, LLC, which states that the Grow New Jersey 

award is a material factor in the company's decision to make the capital investment and locate the project in 

Camden.  The CEO certification also states that the application has been reviewed and the information submitted 

and representations contained therein are accurate.  

March 13, 2018 Board Book - Incentives



Union Packaging, LLC Grow New Jersey Page 2 

 

Staff reviewed the project and finds support for management’s assertion that the award of tax credits is a material 

factor in the company’s decision to locate in Camden.  If Union Packaging, LLC chooses the Camden option, the 

company would establish 2210 Broadway in Camden.  The alternative is to remain at its current location in 

Yeadon, PA. 

 

This project represents a significant positive step forward for Camden’s redevelopment efforts, bringing 2210 

Broadway to the city.  It is estimated that the project would have a net benefit to the State of $44,376 over the 35-

year period required by the Statute. 

 

 

ELIGIBILITY AND GRANT CALCULATION: 

Per the Grow New Jersey statute, N.J.S.A. 34:1B-242 et seq. and the program’s rules, N.J.A.C. 19:31-18, the 

applicant must: 

 

• Make, acquire, or lease a capital investment equal to, or greater than, the minimum capital investment, as 

follows: 

      ($/Square Foot 

 Minimum Capital Investment Requirements    of Gross Leasable Area) 

 Industrial/Warehouse/Logistics/R&D - Rehabilitation Projects  $  20 

 Industrial/Warehouse/Logistics/R&D - New Construction Projects  $  60 

 Non-Industrial/Warehouse/Logistics/R&D – Rehabilitation Projects $  40 

 Non-Industrial/Warehouse/Logistics/R&D – New Construction Projects $120 

 Minimum capital investment amounts are reduced by 1/3 in GSGZs and in eight South Jersey 

 counties: Atlantic, Burlington, Camden, Cape May, Cumberland, Gloucester, Ocean and Salem 

 

• Retain full-time jobs AND/OR create new full-time jobs in an amount equal to or greater than the 

applicable minimum, as follows: 

 

 Minimum Full-Time Employment Requirements  (New / Retained Full-time Jobs) 

 Tech start ups and manufacturing businesses    10 / 25 

 Other targeted Industries       25 / 35 

 All other businesses/industries      35 / 50 

Minimum employment numbers are reduced by 1/4 in GSGZs and in eight South Jersey counties: Atlantic, 

Burlington, Camden, Cape May, Cumberland, Gloucester, Ocean and Salem 

   

 

As an Industrial - Rehabilitation Project for a manufacturing business in Camden County, this project has been 

deemed eligible for a Grow New Jersey award based upon these criteria, outlined in the table below: 

 

Eligibility Minimum Requirement Proposed by Applicant 

Capital Investment $946,667 $10,640,272 

New Jobs 8 65 

Retained Jobs 19 0 

 

 

The Grow New Jersey Statute and the program’s rules also establish criteria for the Grant Calculation.  Projects 

located in Camden are eligible to receive per employee as a tax credit the total amount of capital investment for 

the project divided by the number of employees, subject to the following limits, provided that the project 

represents a net positive benefit to the State: 

March 13, 2018 Board Book - Incentives



Union Packaging, LLC Grow New Jersey Page 3 

 

 

 

 

Provided the company complies with all other program requirements, a reduction in the number of new or retained 

full-time jobs indicated in the company’s annual report below the number certified in the initial CPA certification 

shall proportionately reduce the amount of tax credits the company may apply against liability in the relevant tax 

period.  Also, if the number of new and retained full-time jobs, as indicated by the company’s annual report, is 

reduced below the required number in the table above, the tax credits that the business may take shall be subject 

to the annual limit corresponding to the new jobs and retained full-time jobs new to Camden. 

 

                                                                            GRANT CALCULATION 

 

CAPITAL INVESTMENT:         $      10,640,272 

 

JOBS BASED TAX CREDIT LIMIT:       $      20,000,000 

 

GROSS BENEFIT TO THE STATE OVER 35 YEARS:     $      10,684,226 

 

THE APPLICANT IS ELIGIBLE FOR A TAX CREDIT EQUAL TO 

THE LOWEST OF THE THREE NUMBERS ABOVE (CONVERTED TO AN   

EVEN DOLLAR AMOUNT PER EMPLOYEE PER YEAR):    $      10,639,850 

 

TOTAL ANNUAL AWARD BASED ON THE BENEFIT TO THE STATE (OVER 35 YEARS, 

PRIOR TO THE AWARD) BEING 100% OF THE AWARD WITH A COMMITMENT TO REMAIN 

IN THE QUALIFIED BUSINESS FACILITY FOR 27 YEARS: 

 

   New Jobs:             65 Jobs X $16,369 X 100% =  $    1,063,985 

   Retained Jobs:    0 Jobs X $16,369 X 100% =  $           0,000 

 

TOTAL ANNUAL AWARD *       $    1,063,985 

 

* PLEASE SEE RECOUPMENT SCHEDULE BELOW 

      

 

 

 

New Jobs or Retained 

Jobs New to Camden 

Capital Investment Maximum Annual Tax 

Credit 

Limit on Total Tax 

Credit 

≥35 $5,000,000 $2,000,000 $20,000,000 

≥70 $10,000,000 $3,000,000 $30,000,000 

≥100 $15,000,000 $4,000,000 $40,000,000 

≥150 $20,000,000 $5,000,000 $50,000,000 

≥250 $30,000,000 $35,000,000 $350,000,000 

March 13, 2018 Board Book - Incentives



Union Packaging, LLC Grow New Jersey Page 4 

 

 

 

The Grow New Jersey Statute and the program’s rules establish a Grant Calculation for Retained Full-Time 

Jobs.  The Grant Calculation for Retained Full-Time Jobs for this project will be based upon the following: 

 

PROJECT TYPE GRANT CALCULATION 

Project located in a Garden State 

Growth Zone 

The Retained Full-Time Jobs will receive the same Grant 

Calculation as New Full-Time Jobs as shown above subject to 

the same per employee limits. 

A Mega Project which is the U.S. 

headquarters of an automobile 

manufacturer located in a priority area 

The Retained Full-Time Jobs will receive the same Grant 

Calculation as New Full-Time Jobs as shown above subject to the 

same per employee limits. 

The Qualified Business Facility is 

replacing a facility that has been wholly 

or substantially damaged as a result of a 

federally declared disaster 

The Retained Full-Time Jobs will receive the same Grant 

Calculation as New Full-Time Jobs as shown above subject to the 

same per employee limits. 

All other projects The Retained Full-Time Jobs will receive the lesser of: 

- ½ of the Grant Calculation for New Full-Time Jobs (1/2 * 

$16,370 = $8,185 or 

- The estimated eligible Capital Investment divided by 10 

divided by the total New and Retained Full-Time Jobs 

($10,640,272 / 10 / (65+ 0) = $16,369) 

 

In the event that upon completion a project has a lower actual Grant 

Calculation for New Full-Time Jobs or a lower Capital Investment 

than was estimated herein, the above calculations will be re-run and 

the applicant will receive the lesser of the two amounts.   

        

 

 

 

 

RECOUPMENT SCHEDULE 

 

       YEAR    RECOUPMENT AMOUNT 

IF THE APPLICANT LEAVES IN YEAR:     16   $2,583,337.00 

IF THE APPLICANT LEAVES IN YEAR:     17   $2,318,438.83 

IF THE APPLICANT LEAVES IN YEAR:     18   $2,062,912.07 

IF THE APPLICANT LEAVES IN YEAR:     19   $1,816,425.16 

IF THE APPLICANT LEAVES IN YEAR:     20   $1,578,658.31 

IF THE APPLICANT LEAVES IN YEAR:     21   $1,349,303.02 

IF THE APPLICANT LEAVES IN YEAR:     22   $1,128,061.72 

IF THE APPLICANT LEAVES IN YEAR:     23   $   914,647.35 

IF THE APPLICANT LEAVES IN YEAR:     24   $   708,783.01 

IF THE APPLICANT LEAVES IN YEAR:     25   $   510,201.61 

IF THE APPLICANT LEAVES IN YEAR:     26   $   318,645.50 

IF THE APPLICANT LEAVES IN YEAR:     27   $   133,866.14 

 

March 13, 2018 Board Book - Incentives



Union Packaging, LLC Grow New Jersey Page 5 

 

PROJECT IS:   (  ) Expansion  (X) Relocation 

ESTIMATED ELIGIBLE CAPITAL INVESTMENT:     $     10,640,272 

ANTICIPATED COMPLETION DATE FOR 

  CAPITAL INVESTMENT:                       May 1, 2019 

ANTICIPATED DATE THAT JOBS WILL BE 

  AT QUALIFIED BUSINESS FACILITY:             May 1, 2019 

SIZE OF PROJECT LOCATION:             71,000 sq. ft. 

NEW BUILDING OR EXISTING LOCATION?                  Existing 

INDUSTRIAL OR NON-INDUSTRIAL FACILITY?               Industrial 

CONSTRUCTION:   (X) Yes  (   ) No 

 

 

NEW FULL-TIME JOBS:                              65 

RETAINED FULL-TIME JOBS:                               0 

STATEWIDE BASE EMPLOYMENT (AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2017):                         0 

CITY FROM WHICH JOBS WILL BE RELOCATED IN NEW JERSEY:          N/A 

MEDIAN WAGES:          $             32,968 

 

NET BENEFIT MODEL:                   2017 

GROSS BENEFIT TO THE STATE (OVER 35 YEARS, PRIOR TO AWARD): $      10,684,226 

TOTAL AMOUNT OF AWARD:        $      10,639,850  

NET BENEFIT TO THE STATE (OVER 35 YEARS, NET OF AWARD):  $             44,376  

ESTIMATED AWARD PER NEW/RETAINED JOB:     $             16,369 

 

ELIGIBILITY PERIOD:                      10 years 

 

 

 

 

  

March 13, 2018 Board Book - Incentives



Union Packaging, LLC Grow New Jersey Page 6 

 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL: 

1. Applicant has not committed to locate the project in New Jersey without the Grow New Jersey tax credit, as      

may be shown by an executed lease or purchase contract. 

2. Applicant will create and/or retain jobs and will make eligible capital investment, at the qualified business 

facility, of no less than the minimum eligibility requirements after Board approval, but no later than three years 

from Board approval. 

3. No employees that are subject to a BEIP, BRRAG, legacy Grow New Jersey, Urban Transit Hub or other 

NJEDA incentive program are eligible for calculating the benefit amount of the Grow New Jersey tax credit. 

4. No capital investment that is subject to a BEIP, BRRAG, legacy Grow New Jersey, Urban Transit Hub or other 

NJEDA incentive program is eligible to be counted toward the capital investment requirement for Grow New 

Jersey. 

5. Within twelve months following approval, the applicant will submit progress information indicating that the 

business has site plan approval, committed financing for, and site control of the qualified business facility. 

6.  Due to the Net Benefit to the State exceeding the minimum Net Benefit required for a Grow NJ award by 10% 

or less, the Net Benefit to the State will be recalculated if the CPA certification shows a 10% or more reduction 

of the number of eligible jobs, capital investment, or payroll from the amounts approved by the Board.  If the 

Net Benefit analysis does not support awarding a tax credit for the entire amount of the capital investment, 

then the amount of the award will be reduced accordingly. 

7. The applicant will be required to produce a site control document prior to closing that demonstrates control of 

the site for the entire 27-year period it has committed to remain in the Qualified Business Facility or its award 

will revert back to the standard award ($8,056,513) for a 15-year commitment) based on the actual length of 

the site control document. 

 

 

APPROVAL REQUEST:         

The Members of the Authority are asked to: 1) concur with the finding by staff that the award of the Grow New 

Jersey tax credits is a material factor in the applicant’s decision to make a capital investment and locate in 

Camden; 2) approve the proposed Grow New Jersey grant to encourage Union Packaging, LLC to locate in 

Camden.  The recommended grant is contingent upon receipt by the Authority of evidence that the company has 

met certain criteria to substantiate the recommended award.  If the criteria met by the company differs from that 

shown herein, the award amount and the term will be lowered to reflect the award amount that corresponds to the 

actual criteria that have been met. 

 

 

DEVELOPMENT OFFICER:  Christina Fuentes  APPROVAL OFFICER:  Mark Chierici 

 

 

March 13, 2018 Board Book - Incentives



LOANS/GRANTS/GUARANTEES 

March 13, 2018 Board Book - Loans/Grants/Guarantees



LOAN MODIFICATIONS

March 13, 2018 Board Book - Loans/Grants/Guarantees



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Loans/Grants/Guarantees



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Loans/Grants/Guarantees



PETROLEUM UNDERGROUND STORAGE TANK (PUST)

March 13, 2018 Board Book - Loans/Grants/Guarantees



0
tøiø

NEW JERSEY EcoNoMIc DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

MEMORANDUM

TO: Members of the Authority

FROM: Timothy J. Lizura, President/Chief Operating Officer

DATE: March 13. 2018

SUBJECT: NJDEP Petroleum UST Remediation. Upgrade & Closure Fund Program

The following residential grant project has been approved by the Department of Environmental
Protection to perform initial upgrade, closure and remediation activities. The scope of work is
described on the attached project summary:

UST Residential Grant:
P44424 John and Doris Clayton $ 146,988

‘rotal UST Funding — March 2018 $ 146,988

TimothyLizura

Prepared by: Wendy Wisniewski

36 WEsT STATE STREET P0 Box 990 TRENTON, NJ 08625-0990 I 609-858-6700 customercare@njeda.com I www.njeda.com

March 13, 2018 Board Book - Loans/Grants/Guarantees



NEW JERSEY ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
PROJECT SUMMARY - UNDERGROUND STORAGE TANK GRANT

APPLICANT: John Clayton and Doris Clayton P44424

PROJECT USER(S): Same as applicant *
- indicates relation to applicant

PROJECT LOCATION: 401 Tavistock Blvd Haddonfield Borough (N) Camden

GOVERNOR’S INITIATIVES: () Urban Edison (X) Core ()Clean Energy

APPLICANT BACKGROUND:
John Clayton and Doris Clayton are homeowners seeking to remove a leaking 550-gallon residential #2
heating underground storage tank (UST) and perform the required remediation. The tank will be
decommissioned and removed in accordance with NJDEP requirements. The NJDEP has determined that
the project costs are technically eligible.

Financial statements provided by the applicants demonstrate that the applicants financial condition
conforms to the financial hardship test for a conditional hardship grant.

APPROVAL REQUEST:

The applicants are requesting grant funding in the amount of $146,988 to perform the approved scope of
work at the project site.

The NJDEP oversight fee of $14,699 is the customary 10% of the grant amount. This assumes that the work
will not require a high level of NJDEP involvement and that reports of an acceptable quality will be submitted
to the NJDEP.

FINANCING SUMMARY:

GRANTOR: Petroleum UST Remediation, Upgrade & Closure Fund

AMOUNT OF GRANT: $146,988

TERMS OF GRANT: No Interest; No Repayment

PROJECT COSTS:
Upgrade ,Closure, Remediation $146, 988

NJDEP oversight cost $14,699

EDA administrative cost $250

TOTAL COSTS $161,937

APPROVAL OFFICER: W. Wisniewski

March 13, 2018 Board Book - Loans/Grants/Guarantees



EDISON INNOVATION FUND 

March 13, 2018 Board Book - Edison Innovaton Fund



NJ CoVEST FUND PROGRAM

March 13, 2018 Board Book - Edison Innovaton Fund



MEMORANDUM 

TO: Members the Authority 

FROM: 

DATE: 

Timothy J. Lizura 
President/Chief Operating Officer 

March 1 2018 

RE: NJ Co Vest Fund Early Stage Technology Company Investment Program 

Summary 
April 13, 2017, the Board approved the creation of the NJ Co Vest Program to support early 

stage technology and life science companies, with a $3 million original program commitment. 
The program is designed to provide seed funding to early stage New Jersey technology companies 
in the form of convertible notes. 

To date, the board has approved two commitments under the program including Reflik (10/12/17) 
and Apprentice FS, Inc. (2/13/18). With the execution and review of the supporting loan 
documents and agreements necessary to consummate the first approved transaction, staff is 
recommending the board consider approving the clarification of defaults and applicable terms under 
the agreement as outlined herein. 

Background 
Current program requirements include the following language: 

Default 

I 

Failure to comply with any requirement will result in an event of default in 
which the Note becomes immediately due and payable at either a multiple 
of one and a half times the principal and accrued interest or a multiple of 
one and a half times equity value at the election of the EDA. 

l 

March 13, 2018 Board Book - Edison Innovaton Fund



Commitment to NJ 

Proposed Change 

Company must maintain a corporate space within the 
of the State of New 

must maintain a minimum of 75% of the 
team space within the boundaries of the State of New Jersey. 

Company must maintain at least 75% of employees, working on average 
80% of their time, within the boundaries of the State of New Jersey. 

Commitments must be met at application submission date and maintained 
until five years after repayment in full or five years after note maturity 
date. A change to these Commitments may be considered by the EDA in 
event of merger or acquisition. 

The noted default language above, lives beyond the note repayment and during the five-year "tail" 
for NJ commitment and employment for all defaults and requirements. The original program memo 
drafting required all compliance, coHateral, terms, etc. to be carried for the "tail" of the note that has 
a five-year NJ jobs requirement. Given the need for these young companies to continually fundraise 
and secure financing support, the program was constructed as an unsecured instrument to allow 
future follow on funding required for these early companies to continue to grow in the state. Many 

the ancillary terms, springing liens, etc. are needed only to ensure repayment and thereafter would 
hinder the prospects of these young companies from obtaining follow on funding after the 
repayment of the EDA obligation. Staff is recommending ONLY the commitment to NJ live beyond 
the "non-default" payment satisfaction of interest and principal on the Co Vest Funding. The 
required reporting to evidences the NJ Commitment will remain during the five-year "tail". This in 
turn will allow the negative pledge to be released with full payment of the "non-default rate" 
principal and interest at which point the only outstanding requirements is the commitment to NJ 
(and potential relative default payment), along with any potential remaining life in the 10-year 
warrant. 

The proposed program amendment is as detailed below. 

2 

March 13, 2018 Board Book - Edison Innovaton Fund



Default 

Recommendation 

Failure to comply with any requirement, prior to the full repayment of the 
1 

"non-default rate" principal and interest will result in an event of default I 
in which the Note due and payable at either a 
multiple one and a half times the principal and accrued interest or a 
multiple of one and a half times the principal and interest equity value 
(based on the original matching funds pricing round, whether or not 
converted)at the election of the EDA . 

Upon full payment of the "non-default rate" principal and interest, the 
only remaining event of default is the "commitment to NJ" requirement. 
Failure to comply with this requirement will result in the requirement to 
pay either a multiple of one and a half times the principal and accrued 
interest or a multiple of one and a half times the principal and interest 
equity value (based on the original matching funds pricing round, whether 
or not converted) at the election of the EDA less the payment of "non­
default rate" principal and interest. 

Tirnoth ~ Lizura 
Presid~t/Chief Operating Officer 

Prepared by: Kathleen W. Coviello 

3 

March 13, 2018 Board Book - Edison Innovaton Fund



OFFICE OF RECOVERY

March 13, 2018 Board Book - Office of Recovery



ENERGY RESILENCE BANK (ERB) PROGRAM 
MODIFICATIONS

March 13, 2018 Board Book - Office of Recovery



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Office of Recovery



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Office of Recovery



REAL ESTATE

March 13, 2018 Board Book - Real Estate



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Real Estate



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Real Estate



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Real Estate



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Real Estate



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Real Estate



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Real Estate



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Real Estate



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Real Estate



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Real Estate



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Real Estate



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Real Estate



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Real Estate



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Real Estate



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Real Estate



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Real Estate



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Real Estate



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Real Estate



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Real Estate



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Real Estate



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Real Estate



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Real Estate



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Real Estate



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Real Estate



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Real Estate



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Real Estate



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Real Estate



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Real Estate



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Real Estate



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Real Estate



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Real Estate



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Real Estate



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Real Estate



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Real Estate



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Real Estate



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Real Estate



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Real Estate



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Real Estate



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Real Estate



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Real Estate



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Real Estate



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Real Estate



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Real Estate



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Real Estate



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Real Estate



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Real Estate



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Real Estate



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Real Estate



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Real Estate



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Real Estate



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Real Estate



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Real Estate



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Real Estate



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Real Estate



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Real Estate



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Real Estate



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Real Estate



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Real Estate



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Real Estate



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Real Estate



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Real Estate



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Real Estate



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Real Estate



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Real Estate



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Real Estate



March 13, 2018 Board Book - Real Estate



BOARD MEMORANDUM 

March 13, 2018 Board Book - Board Memorandums



jø.

‘—.
NEw JERSEY ECoNOMIC 1)EVELOPMENT AuuloRrrv

MEMORANDUM

TO: Members of the Authority

FROM: Timothy J. Lizura, President and COO

DATE: March 13, 2018

SUBJECT: Projects Approved Under Delegated Authority —

For Informational Purposes Only

The following projects were approved under Delegated Authority in February 2018:

Direct Loan Program:

1) Bylada Foods, LLC (P44063), located in East Rutherford Borough, Bergen County, was
established in 2005 as a private label food manufacturing business for major supermarket chains
across the US. The Company specializes in manufacturing frozen snacks, appetizers, and
breakfast food. Bylada has a kosher brand of foods called Macabee Foods LLC that is well-
known across the kosher population. Bobs Boys Bagels is a division of Bylada formed to
implement in-house bagel production for Bylada and Macabee. The Company was approved
for an $816,000 direct loan to provide permanent financing on equipment originally purchased
using a bridge loan. M&T Bank also approved a $1,360,000 loan for the same purpose.
Currently, the Company has 35 employees and plans to create five new jobs over the next two
years.

Premier Lender Program:

1) BTB Holdings, LLC and Butler Real Estate Holdings, LLC (P44859 & P44896), are the real
estate holding companies for Oakland Spine & Rehabilitation Center’s locations in Fair Lawn,
NJ and Oakland, NJ, Bergen County. The operating company, Chiropractic Works !!, LLC dba
Oakland Spine & Rehabilitation Center, is a state-of-the-art rehabilitation center specializing in
physical therapy, non-surgical herniated disk treatment, chiropractic care and acupuncture. BTB
Holdings, LLC was approved for a 50% ($416,250) Authority participation in an $832,500
Atlantic Stewardship Bank commercial mortgage. Butler Real Estate Holdings, LCL was
approved for a 50% ($306,000) Authority participation in a $612,000 commercial mortgage.
Proceeds will be used to purchase real estate. Currently, the Company has 26 employees and
plans to create 13 new positions within the next two years. SSBCI funds will be utilized for this
project.

March 13, 2018 Board Book - Board Memorandums



2) KD Singh Enterprise LLC (P44863), located in Edison Township, Middlesex County, is the
real estate holding company which owns the operating companies’ warehouse serving four
grocery stores that specialize in South Asian and South Indian groceries. Provident Bank
approved a $3,057,975 loan contingent upon a 37.87% ($1,157,975) Authority participation.
Proceeds will be used to purchase property to accommodate business expansion. The Company
currently has 80 employees and plans to create ten new jobs over the next two years.

Prepared by: G. Robins
/gvr

March 13, 2018 Board Book - Board Memorandums


	Agenda Cover Memo
	Approval of Previous Month's Minutes
	February 13, 2018 Minutes

	CEO Report
	Incentives
	Grow New Jersey Assistance Program
	Carts Mobile Food Equipment
	Feldware, Inc.
	Infinite Herbs LLC
	Union Packaging, LLC


	Loans/Grants/Guarantees
	Loan Modifications
	AC Beach Development Partners, LLC et al

	Petroleum UST Remediation, Upgrade & Closure Fund Program
	PUST Board Approvals Memo
	John Clayton and Doris Clayton


	Edison Innovaton Fund
	NJ CoVest Fund Program
	NJ CoVest Fund - Early Stage Technology Company Investment Program - Proposed Amendments


	Office of Recovery
	Energy Resilience Bank Program Modifications
	St. Peter's University Hospital Project Funding


	Real Estate
	FMERA Purchase/Sale/Redevelopment Agreement with Commvault

	Board Memorandums
	Credit Underwriting Projects Approved Under Delegated Authority - FYI Only




